



Legislation Details (With Text)

**File #:** ORD. 2024-130    **Version:** 1    **Name:**  
**Type:** Ordinance    **Status:** Adopted  
**File created:** 5/10/2024    **In control:** City Council  
**On agenda:** 5/28/2024    **Final action:** 5/28/2024

**Title:** To amend and reordain City Code §§ 2-1128, concerning applications for equalization of real estate assessments, 26-101, concerning the creation and purpose of the Office of Assessor of Real Estate, 26-104, concerning the duties, 26-122, concerning the time of making and entering assessment and notice of increases, and 26-147, concerning land books generally, to be effective for real estate tax assessments that are used to calculate real estate taxes for the tax years beginning on Jan. 1, 2026, and Jan. 1, 2027; to amend and reordain City Code §§ 26-104, concerning the duties, 26-105, concerning the assessment of new buildings substantially completed or fit for use and occupancy, and abatement of levies, 26-122, concerning time of making and entering an assessment and notice of increase, 26-147, concerning land books generally, 26-203, concerning the effective date of assessments, 26-230, concerning application to the Assessor for administrative reviews, 26-231, concerning notice of administrative reviews, 26-232, concerning action after hearing and rule of evidence, 26-233, concerning the delegation of hearings to assistant and the summary of evidence, and 26-262, concerning notice to the Assessor of new or remodeled buildings and assessment, to be effective for real estate tax assessments that are used to calculate real estate taxes for the tax years beginning on January 1, 2028, and later; and to amend ch. 26, art. III, div. 1 by adding therein a new section numbered 26-49, concerning the effective date of assessments, all for the purpose of transitioning the City Assessor’s annual real estate assessment cycle from a calendar year to a fiscal year.

**Sponsors:** Mayor Stoney

**Indexes:**

**Code sections:**

**Attachments:** 1. Ord. No. 2024-130, 2. 20240516 Assessment Cycle Realignment\_Finance Committee

Date	Ver.	Action By	Action	Result
5/28/2024	1	City Council	adopted	Pass
5/16/2024	1	Finance and Economic Development Standing Committee	recommended for approval	
5/13/2024	1	City Council	introduced and referred	

To amend and reordain City Code §§ 2-1128, concerning applications for equalization of real estate assessments, 26-101, concerning the creation and purpose of the Office of Assessor of Real Estate, 26-104, concerning the duties, 26-122, concerning the time of making and entering assessment and notice of increases, and 26-147, concerning land books generally, to be effective for real estate tax assessments that are used to calculate real estate taxes for the tax years beginning on Jan. 1, 2026, and Jan. 1, 2027; to amend and reordain City Code §§ 26-104, concerning the duties, 26-105, concerning the assessment of new buildings substantially completed or fit for use and occupancy, and abatement of levies, 26-122, concerning time of making and entering an assessment and notice of increase, 26-147, concerning land books generally, 26-203, concerning the effective date of assessments, 26-230, concerning application to the Assessor for administrative reviews, 26-231, concerning notice of administrative reviews, 26-232, concerning action after hearing and rule of evidence, 26-233, concerning the delegation of hearings to assistant and the summary of evidence, and 26-262, concerning notice to the Assessor of new or remodeled buildings and assessment, to be effective for real estate tax assessments that are used to calculate real estate taxes for the tax years beginning on January 1, 2028, and later; and to

amend ch. 26, art. III, div. 1 by adding therein a new section numbered 26-49, concerning the effective date of assessments, all for the purpose of transitioning the City Assessor's annual real estate assessment cycle from a calendar year to a fiscal year.

THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS:

§ 1. That sections 2-1128, 26-101, 26-104, 26-122, and 26-147 of the Code of the City of Richmond (2020) are hereby **amended** and reordained as follows:

**Sec. 2-1128. - Applications for equalization of real estate assessments.**

(a) Any property owner or such property owner's duly appointed representative may apply to the Board for the adjustment to fair market value and equalization of such property owner's assessment, including errors in acreage. An executed and properly notarized letter from the property owner designating an appointed representative for the property owner shall be presumed to be a valid designation from the property owner, and the person whose signature is notarized shall be presumed to have the authority to designate such representative on behalf of the property owner.

(b) Any application for equalization of real estate assessments shall be filed in the Office of the City Assessor by ~~November 30 of each year.~~ December 1, 2025, for both the tax years beginning January 1, 2026, and the tax year beginning January 1, 2027. However, if the City Assessor changes the fair market value of real estate as printed in the land book certified by the City Assessor for any reason after the City Assessor delivers the land book to the Director of Finance but before November 1, 2026, an application for equalization of such change in fair market value may be filed in the Office of the City Assessor by no later than November 30, 2026, for such portions, if any, of the tax years beginning January 1, 2026, and January 1, 2027, as may be assessed pursuant to such change in fair market value. If no applications for relief are received by such date, the Board of Equalization shall be deemed to have discharged its duties. If any such application is mailed by the applicant, the postmark date shall be considered the date of receipt by the City Assessor. A hearing for relief before the Board regarding an assessment on residential property shall not be denied on the basis of a lack of information on the application for relief, as long as the application includes the address, the parcel number, and the property owner's proposed assessed value for the property. If the application for relief is sent electronically, the date the applicant sends the application shall be considered the date of receipt by the City Assessor.

The application is considered sent when it meets the requirements of Code of Virginia, § 59.1-493(a). A hearing for relief before the Board regarding an assessment on commercial, multifamily residential, or industrial property on the basis of fair market value shall not be denied on the basis of a lack of information on the application, as long as documentation of any applicable assessment methodologies is submitted with the application, and the application includes the address, the parcel number, and the property owner's proposed assessed value for the property.

**Sec. 26-101. Position created; purpose.**

All real estate in the City not exempted from taxation by the State Constitution and not assessable for taxation by the State Corporation Commission as provided by law shall be assessed [~~annually~~] biennially for taxation by the City, and for that purpose the Office of Assessor of Real Estate is hereby created.

**Sec. 26-104. Duties.**

(a) The Assessor shall assess [~~annually~~] biennially for taxation at its fair market value all real estate in the City which shall include all lands, buildings, structures and improvements thereon and all rights thereto and interests therein and shall have the power to do all things necessary to assess such property.

(b) By no later than May 1 of each year in which a general reassessment is completed, the Assessor shall furnish the City Council with the projected amount of real estate taxes arising from:

(1) The increased taxation of partially exempt real estate due to the phased reduction occurring on or after July 1, 2020, of partial exemptions in accordance with Chapter 26, Article V, Divisions 3 (§§ 26-408.1-26-408.11), 9 (§§ 26-579-26-589), and 10 (§§ 26-590-26-599) of this Code and with former Sections 98-132, 98-135, and 98-138 of the 2004 Code; and

(2) The full taxation of formerly partially exempt real estate due to the expiration or termination of partial exemptions granted in accordance with Chapter 26, Article V, Divisions 3 (§§ 26-408.1-26-408.11), 9 (§§ 26-579-26-589), and 10 (§§ 26-590-26-599) of this Code and with former Sections 98-132, 98-135, and 98-138 of the 2004 Code.

**Sec. 26-122. Time of making and entering assessment; notice of increase.**

Every assessment of real estate shall be completed not later than December 31 of the year immediately preceding the first tax year for which such assessment is to be effective for tax purposes, and every parcel of real estate shall be entered separately upon a land book in the name and street address of the owner thereof [~~or in the name of the owner of any interest therein~~. Every such entry shall show the nature of the estate, right, title or interest owned in such real estate]. In cases where real property is owned by more than one person, the land book shall contain the name and street address of at least one of the owners. Whenever any such assessment is increased, the Assessor shall give written notice thereof to the owner of such real estate and of any interest therein by mailing such notice to the last known post office address of such owner, but the validity of such assessment shall not be affected by any failure to give or receive such notice.

**Sec. 26-147. Generally**

The form of the land books shall be prescribed by the Assessor. In preparing the land book, all real estate owned by the City shall be listed separately from all other property assessed. The Assessor shall, upon completion of each [~~annual~~] biennial assessment, certify on the land book on oath that all real estate subject to taxation by the City has been assessed at the fair market value thereof and that there are no errors on the face of the land book. The original of each land book shall be in the Office of the Assessor, and no change or alteration in or addition to any entry appearing thereon shall be made unless authorized by law. There shall also be furnished to the State Department of Taxation such information respecting such assessments as it may require. One copy of the land book shall be delivered by the Assessor to the Collector by May 1 of each year. One copy shall be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court of the City.

§ 2. That section 1 of this ordinance shall be in force and effect on January 1, 2025, and expire on July 1, 2026.

§ 3. That, for the avoidance of doubt, and notwithstanding the provisions of sections 2, 4, and 6 of this ordinance to the contrary, the provisions of Section 1 shall apply to all assessments of real estate used to calculate property taxes on real estate levied pursuant to Article V, Division 2 of Chapter 26 of the Code of the City of Richmond, Virginia (2020), as amended, for the tax years beginning January 1, 2026, and January 1, 2027.

§ 4. That sections 26-104, 26-105, 26-122, 26-147, 26-203, 26-230, 26-231, 26-232, 26-233, and 26-262 of the Code of the City of Richmond (2020) are hereby **amended** and reordained as follows:

**Sec. 26-104. Duties.**

(a) The Assessor shall assess annually for taxation at its fair market value as of July 1 all real estate in the City which shall include all lands, buildings, structures and improvements thereon and all rights thereto and interests therein and shall have the power to do all things necessary to assess such property.

(b) By no later than ~~[May]~~ November 1 of each year in which a general reassessment is completed, the Assessor shall furnish the City Council with the projected amount of real estate taxes arising from:

(1) The increased taxation of partially exempt real estate due to the phased reduction occurring on or after July 1, 2020, of partial exemptions in accordance with Chapter 26, Article V, Divisions 3 (§§ 26-408.1-26-408.11), 9 (§§ 26-579-26-589), and 10 (§§ 26-590-26-599) of this Code and with former Sections 98-132, 98-135, and 98-138 of the 2004 Code; and

(2) The full taxation of formerly partially exempt real estate due to the expiration or termination of partial exemptions granted in accordance with Chapter 26, Article V, Divisions 3 (§§ 26-408.1-26-408.11), 9 (§§ 26-579-26-589), and 10 (§§ 26-590-26-599) of this Code and with former Sections 98-132, 98-135, and 98-138 of the 2004 Code.

**Sec. 26-105. Assessment of new buildings substantially completed or fit for use and occupancy; abatement of levies on buildings razed, destroyed or damaged.**

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter to the contrary, all new buildings substantially completed or fit for use and occupancy prior to ~~[November]~~ May 1 of the year of completion shall be assessed when so completed or fit for use and occupancy, and the City Assessor shall enter in the books the fair market value of such building. No partial assessment as provided herein shall become effective until information as to the date and amount of such assessment is recorded in the ~~[Office of the]~~ Department of Finance and made available for public inspection. The total tax on any such new building for that year shall be the sum of (i) the tax upon the assessment of the completed building, computed according to the ratio which the portion of the tax year such building is substantially completed or fit

for use and occupancy bears to the entire year, and (ii) the tax upon the assessment of such new building as it existed on ~~[January]~~ July 1 of that assessment year, computed according to the ratio which the portion of the year such building was not substantially complete or fit for use and occupancy bears to the entire year. With respect to any assessment made under this subsection after ~~[September]~~ March 1 of any year, the penalty for nonpayment by ~~[December]~~ June 5 shall be extended to ~~[February]~~ August 5 ~~[of the succeeding tax year]~~.

(b) All levies on buildings which are (i) razed, or (ii) destroyed or damaged by a fortuitous happening beyond the control of the owner shall be abated. No such abatement, however, shall be allowed if the destruction or damage to such building shall decrease the value thereof by less than \$500.00. Also, no such abatement shall be allowed unless the destruction or damage renders the building unfit for use and occupancy for 30 days or more during the calendar year. The tax on such razed, destroyed or damaged building is computed according to the ratio which the portion of the year the building was fit for use, occupancy and enjoyment bears to the entire year. Application for such abatement shall be made by or on behalf of the owner of the building within six months of the date on which the building was razed, destroyed or damaged. **Sec. 26-122. Time of making and entering assessment; notice of increase.**

Every assessment of real estate shall be completed not later than ~~[December 31]~~ June 30 of the year immediately preceding the year for which such assessment is to be effective for tax purposes, and every parcel of real estate shall be entered separately upon a land book in the name and street address of the owner thereof ~~[or in the name of the owner of any interest therein. Every such entry shall show the nature of the estate, right, title or interest owned in such real estate]~~. In cases where real property is owned by more than one person, the land book shall contain the name and street address of at least one of the owners. Whenever any such assessment is increased, the Assessor shall give written notice thereof to the owner of such real estate and of any interest therein by mailing such notice to the last known post office address of such owner, but the validity of such assessment shall not be affected by any failure to give or receive such notice.

### **Sec. 26-147. Generally**

The form of the land books shall be prescribed by the Assessor. In preparing the land book, all real estate owned

by the City shall be listed separately from all other property assessed. The Assessor shall, upon completion of each annual assessment, certify on the land book on oath that all real estate subject to taxation by the City has been assessed at the fair market value thereof and that there are no errors on the face of the land book. The original of each land book shall be in the Office of the Assessor, and no change or alteration in or addition to any entry appearing thereon shall be made unless authorized by law. There shall also be furnished to the State Department of Taxation such information respecting such assessments as it may require. One copy of the land book shall be delivered by the Assessor to the Collector by ~~May~~ October 1 of each year. One copy shall be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court of the City.

**Sec. 26-203. Effective date of assessments.**

Every annual assessment made by the Assessor shall be effective for tax purposes on January 1 of the tax year immediately after the year in which the assessment is completed, and taxes and other charges for the year shall be extended on the basis of every such assessment. The beginning of the tax ~~and assessment~~ year for the assessment of taxes on all real estate assessable by the City for taxation and other charges shall be January 1, and the owner of such real estate on that day shall be assessed with taxes and other charges for the year beginning on that day.

**Sec. 26-230. Application to Assessor for ~~hearings~~ administrative reviews.**

In order to equalize assessments of real estate, the Assessor shall hold ~~hearings~~ administrative reviews as often as may be necessary ~~[between August 1 and October 1]~~ in each year in which an assessment is completed for the purpose of receiving such evidence as may be presented by any taxpayer with respect to the inequality of the assessment made of the real estate owned by such taxpayer for that year. Any taxpayer aggrieved by such assessment of the taxpayer's property may apply to the Assessor for the equalization thereof on forms provided by the Assessor for the purpose.

**Sec. 26-231. Notice of ~~hearings~~ administrative reviews.**

~~[At least ten days before August 31 of each year in which an assessment is completed, notice shall be given by publication one time in one of the newspapers having general circulation in the City that the hearings referred to in Section 26-230 will be held at the place and on the days designated therein for the purpose of equalizing such~~

assessments.] A taxpayer may request an administrative review pursuant to Section 26-230 of the Code of the City of Richmond (2020) by applying to the City Assessor no later than 30 days after the reassessment notice sent pursuant to section 58.1-3330 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, is sent to the taxpayer. The City Assessor shall give notice of the deadline in such reassessment notice. A taxpayer who fails to request an administrative review by the deadline shall not receive one.

**Sec. 26-232. Action after [hearing] administrative review; rule of evidence.**

After [hearing] reviewing the evidence referred to in Section 26-230 <[https://library.municode.com/va/richmond/codes/code\\_of\\_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICICO\\_CH26TA\\_ARTIIIASPRTA\\_DIV8EQAS\\_S26-230APASHE](https://library.municode.com/va/richmond/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICICO_CH26TA_ARTIIIASPRTA_DIV8EQAS_S26-230APASHE)>, the Assessor may take such action as deemed necessary regarding assessments and shall record the action taken in the land book; provided, however, that there shall be a clear presumption in favor of each assessment, and the burden of proof shall be upon the taxpayer to show that such assessment is in excess of the fair market value of the real estate.

**Sec. 26-233. Delegation of [hearing] administrative review to assistant; summary of evidence.**

The Assessor may authorize persons employed in the Assessor's Office who are competent to do so to hold any [hearing] administrative review referred to in this division, provided the evidence presented or a summary thereof is transmitted to the Assessor for action with respect thereto.

**Sec. 26-262. Notice to Assessor of new or remodeled buildings; assessment.**

The Commissioner of Buildings shall notify the Assessor whenever erection of any new buildings or remodeling of existing structures is commenced within the City. Such new buildings and remodeled existing structures shall be assessed, whether entirely finished or not, at their fair market value on [January] July 1 of the year for which the assessment is made.

§ 5. That section 4 of this ordinance shall be in force and effect on July 1, 2026.

§ 6. That Chapter 26, Article III, Division 1 of the Code of the City of Richmond (2020) be and is hereby amended and reordained by **adding therein a new section** numbered 26-49 as follows:

**Section 26-49. Effective Date of Assessments.**

Pursuant to Va. Code § 58.1-3011, July 1 of each year shall be the effective date of assessments of real estate,



except for public service corporation property, for real estate taxes levied pursuant to Article V, Division 2 of this Chapter. January 1 of each year shall be the effective date of assessments of public service corporation property for real estate taxes levied pursuant to Article V, Division 2 of this chapter and for tangible personal property and machinery and tools for the Tangible Personal Property and Machinery and Tools taxes levied pursuant to Article V, Division 6 of this Chapter.

§ 7. That section 6 of this ordinance shall be in force and effect on July 1, 2026.

§ 8. This ordinance shall be in force and effect on July 1, 2024.

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

---

CITY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE